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PART 1 o V|
General Review of 1960 and. 1961 ‘

DURING their tour of West Africa, Her Majesty the Quténﬁ Accom-
panied by His Royal Highness the Duke of Edinburgh, visited the
Gambia from 3rd to 5th December 1961 in H.M.Y. Britannia.

The Royal visitors spent the first day in Bathurst. At MacCarthy
Square Her Majesty received Loval Addresses presented by the Chief
Minister and by the Chairman of the Bathurst Town Council. The
Royal visitors inspected a group of assembled schoolchildren, Red
Cross units, Girl Guides, Boy Scouts and a detachment of ex-
servicemen. After attending morning prayer at St. Mary’s Pro-
Cathedral, the Queen and the Duke visited the Victoria Hospital,
returning to Government House for luncheon. The Duke visited the
Medical Research Council’s laboratories at Fajara, some 10 miles
from Bathurst. Later, Her Majesty and the Duke of Edinburgh
attended a reception at Government House. The first day of the
Royal visit ended with a State Dinner on board H.M.Y. Britannia,
followed by a parade of traditional lanterns.

On 4th December Her Majesty and His Royal Highness went to
Brikama, the headquarters of the Western Division, where the tradi-
tional Chiefs were presented and a Loyal Address delivered. On the
way the Royal wisitors made a brief stop at Kanifing to meet
members of the Kombo St. Mary Rural Authority. After visiting an
exhibition of village crafts, the Queen and the Duke embarked, at
Bintang, on the Governor’s yacht, HM.C.S. Mansa Kila Kuta to

rejoin H.M.Y. Britannia which had sailed up the Gambia river.

On 5th December, on H.M.C.S. Mansa Kila Kuta, the Queen and
the Duke went to Jowara, a trading station up one of the creeks on
the north bank of the river, returning to Bathurst after a brief stop

at James Island.

After watching a firework display, Her Majesty left for Dakar on
board H.M.Y. Britannia, while the Duke of Edinburgh stayed the
night at Government House, leaving by air on 6th December to
attend the independence celebrations in Tanganyika.
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GOVERNMENT

1
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General elections under universal adult suffrage were held for the
first time in May 1960. The number of elected members to the House |
of Representatives, as the new legislature was styled, increased from
14 to 27. A Chief Minister was appointed in March 1961.

Two months later a constitutional conference took place at
Bathurst, opened by Lord Perth, Minister of State for Colonial
Affairs, who afterwards toured the country. The proposals for con-
stitutional revision arising from this conference were discussed by]
the Secretary of State for the Colonies with a delegation from the
Gambia in July 1961 and agreement was reached for general elections
to be held not later than May 1962. The new constitution envisaged |
the grant of internal self-government under a Premier with not less
than eight Ministers, the Governor retaining responsibility for
internal security, external affairs, defence and the public service. |

In January 1961, during a strike which affected most of the daily- |
paid labour in the territory, there were disturbances, which were
confined to Bathurst but which severely extended the Police. The
Government of Sierra Leone sent a relief detachment, 80 strong,
with three officers, whose active services fortunately were not called
upon. :

In consequence of the increasing budgetary problems of the
Government, a financial delegation from the Gambia held dis-
cussions with the authorities in London during February 1960. The |
United Kingdom Government undertook to provide the Gambia
with a grant-in-aid of administration subject to normal Treasury
control. In the event, no grant was necessary in 1960 or 1961.

The visit by the President of the Council of ‘Ministers of the
Senegal, M. Mamadou Dia, in April 1961 led to the establishment
of a Senegalo-Gambian inter-ministerial standing committee, with
responsibility for examining common practical and technical prob-
lems. Two meetings of the committee and two of technical sub-
committees were held during 1961.

ADMINISTRATION

After the introduction of the new constitution in 1960, the former
departments of Protectorate Administration and Colony Adminis-
tration were united under the Office of Local Government. The work
of the Office was concentrated largely on the task of registering
voters and conducting elections under universal adult suffrage, which
had never previously been undertaken in the Protectorate.
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At the same time, progress was made in re-organising the system
of local government in the Protectorate by the amalgamation of all
the former small District Authority Treasuries into six larger Group
Treasuries, and subsequently by the establishment of Area Councils
containing a majority of popularly elected members to control two
of the enlarged treasuries. It is intended that further Area Councils,
associated with the remaining Treasuries, will be set up.

The original District Authorities, presided over by the traditional
Chief of the District, remain as before, but their functions are now
confined to traditional matters and the maintenance of law and order
in their districts, together with the administration of justice in the
District Tribunals.

THE ECONOMY

‘The Gambia has few natural resources and its economy is based
almost entirely on the export of groundnuts. The trade season opens
in December and closes in April, the nuts being bought by licensed
traders on behalf of the Gambia Oilseeds Marketing Board, who
then decorticate the nuts and arrange their export to markets in
Europe. A small amount is sold in the Gambia and the oil is
extracted locally.

In the 195960 trade season the Board paid a producer price of
£24 per ton. A small crop of 55,000 tons was produced and ground-
nuts worth £2,218,625 were exported.

The groundnut price for the 1960-61 season was fixed at £27
per ton. Over 76,000 tons was bought, the export value of the crop
being £3,077,415. Government guaranteed to underwrite the pro-
ducer price but was not called upon to make any payment.

Revenue in 1960 at £1,599,000 exceeded the estimate by £52,000.
Expenditure amounted to £1,714,000, including the transfer of
£75,000 to the Development Fund. The 1961 estimates provided for
a deficit of over £600,000, with total expenditure at £2,118,000,
including £194,000 to the Development Fund. In the event the
revenue exceeded expectations and the deficit of something under
£300,000 was covered from general revenue balance and reserves.

AGRICULTURE

The Agricultural Department pursued its policy of wquiﬂg to
restore the fertility of the upland soils and estabhshlln_g an improved
system of farming to maintain it. A satisfactory fertiliser for general

application is believed to have been found.
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On this basis, the pﬂﬁulation is distributed approximately as
follows among the main tribal divisions:

Mandi . . : : . s 102,000
Fula (all subdivisions) . : : : 60,000
Wollof . ) " @ ’ ; i 28,000
Serehuli . = ! ) ) 3 i 24,000
Jola 1 d : : : : ; 20,000
Others (less than 5,000) . : ; 3 19,000

The *‘others™ include representatives from various tribal groups
concentrated over the border, who live individually or in small
communities among the main tribes in the Gambia. Among these,
from the 1961 figures, may be noted 124 Mauritanians, mainly
engaged in cattle and petty trade, Manjagos (1,900), Sereres (3,200)
and Bambarras (3,250).

The Mandingos are spread fairly evenly throughout the length of
the territory on both banks, being especially concentrated in the
Lower River Division (51,398). The Fulas preponderate in Mac-
Carthy Island Division (21,700) and Upper River Division (9,850).
The greatest concentration of Wollofs is in the Saloum districts of
MacCarthy Island Division: 6,850 of them live in an almost homo-
geneous block which corresponds to a large group of this tribe over
the border in the Senegal; the remainder are spread up and down
the territory on both banks (except in the Upper River Division,
where there are less than 500), but they live chiefly on the millet-
growing lands near the border. The Jolas, who are believed to have
moved within the last century into a great part of the land they now
occupy, which was until then partly thick forest, are nearly all in
the Western Division (19,100) and mostly to be found in the Foni
Districts to the south of Bintang Creek. Most of the Serahulis live
in the Upper River Division (21,750).

Chapter 2: Occupations, Wages and Labour
Organisation

EMPLOYMENT

APPROXIMATELY 90 per cent of the population are peasant farmers,
the main crop being groundnuts (grown mainly by men). Women
grow rice and vegetables, but the number of men engaged in rice
production is increasing. Maize, sorghum and millets are also grown
for food.

Migrant workers enter the country each year from the Senegal
and Portuguese Guinea to grow groundnuts. These migrants, known
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locally as “strange farmers™, are given land and are housed in the
villages, and in return work an agreed number of days per week on
their hosts’ land.

In the trade season a number of young men from the country
districts and from the Senegal come into Bathurst and the river
ports in search of employment as labourers at the buying stations
and loading groundnuts for transit. They return to their homes before
the beginning of the rains to resume farming.

The quarterly returns of labour employed in Government, com- .
mercial and other private establishments indicate that the following
numbers of workers were employed at the end of 1960 and 1961

respectively: 1

1960 1961
Labourers s : : : . 4,910 6,341
Masons . : : = ; A | 216
Carpeatnes Tonners 13 { T hob oA RN

ters/Joiners . : : .
Blacksmiths . : . " 3 2 46
Electricians . p . y 15 43
TradersfShupkﬂepers ] - A 7 1 il6
Clerks . ? - . 55 832
Others . . . A . i Ly 3,778
WAGES

Wages were twice sharply increased during 1960 and 1961. Early in
1960 a commission of inquiry recommended an increase of 25 per
cent on the basic rate for unskilled labour, bringing it to 5s. per day
in the Colony and 4s. 5d. in the Protectorate. The four Joint Indus-
trial Councils established on the commission’s recommendations
negotiated further increases of 8d. per day, which became effective
on 15th September 1961. Dock workers received a special rate of
7s. 1d. per day having regard to the casual nature of their employ-
ment, and the special rates for carrying decorticated groundnuts
from the shore to ships loading at river ports were increased from
2d.-3d. per bag to 5d-84. during the period. The Protectorate
differential was subject to further investigations, not concluded at
the end of 1961.

By the end of 1961 representative daily rates were:

Labourer : 2 . A ; p 5s5. 8d.
Artisan (lIst Class) . 4 ] : : 10s. 8d.
Artisan (2nd Class) . 1 ; : 3 8s. 114.
Seamstress : 4 ; : E s 8s. 114.
Machine Sawyer . : : z : 6s. 104.
Clerk Timekeeper . . y : y 8s. 11d. .
Brick and Block Maker . i : ; Ts. 10d. &
Messenger (literate) ; : ; - 6s. 10d. .
Messenger (illiterate) : L : : 5s. 84.
Store Hand/Shop Boy . ; : . 6s. 10d.

Telephone Operator : : ] % 8s. 114.
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HOURS OF WORK

The normal working week in commercial establishments, by agree-
ment of the Joint Industrial Council for Commerce, was 40 hours.
Exceptions were made in respect of employees in the petroleum
industry, where the maximum hours were fixed at 44 per week and
also for workers employed in hotels, catering establishments, oil
mills and factories where a maximum of 48 hours per week were

agreed.
The normal hours of work in Government departments were 364
per week for the clerical staff and 42 for manual workers. Govern-

ment regular, daily-rated employees are paid for statutory public
holidays, but not for Sundays.

DEPARTMENT OF LABOUR

Following the acceptance by Government of the recommendations
of the commission of inquiry referred to earlier, an independent
Department of Labour was established during 1961, the senior staff
consisting of a Commissioner of Labour, one Labour Officer and
one Labour Inspector. A Ministry of Health and Labour was estab-
lished in 1960.

INDUSTRIAL RELATIONS

There are three registered trade unions. These are the Gambia
Labour Union, the Gambia Workers’ Union and the Gambia
Traders and Dealers Union, which was registered in September 1960.
The membership of the Gambia Labour Union, registered in May
1935, is unknown; but the Gambia Workers’ Union, registered in
July 1958, claims to represent 6,021 workers. The Gambia Traders
and Dealers Union represents 75 self-employed and semi-
independent persons.

The following associations, not registered under the Trade Union
Ordinance, also exist: the Gambia Teachers’ Union, the Senior Civil
Servants Association and the Gambia Employers’ Association, which
came into existence in July 1961.

Whitley Councils continued to provide machinery for negotiation
between the Government and the established members of the Civil
Service. In 1960 four Joint Industrial Councils were established to
provide a standing negotiating machinery for determining the rates
of pay and conditions of employment of daily rated and non-
pensionable employees of Government, commercial and other private
establishments. These cover workers employed in commerce, port,
transport and agriculture, and artisans and general workers.
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A Port Labour Board was established in 1961 and was given
statutory powers to undertake the registration, recruitment and
discipline of dock workers.

The Labour Advisory Board was also reconstituted during the
year to provide more effective machinery for consultation between
the Government, employers and workers. The Board, which has ten
members representing in equal proportions the interests of employers
and workers, deals with matters referred to it by Government. The
Commissioner of Labour is chairman of the board.

A significant development was the establishment of works com-
mittees in the larger Government departments during 1960 and 1961.
These committees deal with day to day matters of mutual interest
which are not within the purview of the Joint Industrial Councils.

INTERIM INDEX OF RETAIL PRICES FOR BATHURST

A new index of retail prices was introduced during the first quarter
of 1961 following the visit of a statistical expert from the Colonial
Office. This index, covering 78 items and nearly 300 price quotations,
replaced the old index based on 22 items. The price quotations are
obtained every month largely by direct purchases from the markets
and shops, and the average price of each item is calculated from
them.

Taking 100 as the base (this figure for the first quarter of 1961)
the index stood at 101 for June and 103 for the September and
December quarters.

INDUSTRIAL TRAINING

The Government Technical School in Bathurst, described in
Chapter 8, continued to provide tuition in carpentry and metal
work for young men with primary school education. In addition
the Marine and Public Works Departments have separate schemes
for the training of artisans. The Government Clerical School, which
was closed during 1959, was reopened in 1961 for Government
employees only; 20 students are currently undergoing training in
English, arithmetic, shorthand and typing.

LABOUR LEGISLATION

The following are the principal labour laws in force:

The Labour Ordinance, Cap. 85.
The Labour (Amendment) Ordinance, No. 11 of 1960.
The Factories Ordinance, Cap. 86.
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in the £ on a chargeable income of £400 to ls. 14. on £1,000 and
8s. 5d. on £10,000. In addition to personal reliefs of £200 for each
single person and £350 for a married person, allowances for children,
dependent relatives, life insurance premiums, provident fund, pen-
sion scheme contributions and holiday passages are given, subject to
certain limitations.

Customs Duties

The net revenue from customs duties was £815,102 in 1960 and
£873,415 (estimated) in 1961. Except for building materials (excluding
prefabricated doors, windows and ventilators of metal), milk, sugar
and a few other items, all goods are liable to import duty. There is
a general ad valorem rate of 15 per cent preferential and 174 per cent
general. Special rates of duty apply to cotton piece-goods, perfumed
spirits, spirituous liquors, tobacco, petroleum products and rice.
In addition a “purchase tax” is imposed on most imports at the
rate of 4 per cent (raised from 3 per cent towards the end of 1961)
of landed cost including duty. There are export duties on groundnuts,
groundnut oil, groundnut cake and paim kernels.

LOCAL AUTHORITIES® FINANCES

In Bathurst, the Bathurst Town Council levies rates of 1s. 7d. and
4s. 3d. in the £ on residential and commercial properties respectively.
A Government grant is paid to the Council towards the cost of the
Municipal Cleansing Services. The only tax levied by the Bathurst
Town Council is on palm wine entering the town.

The Kombo Rural Authority levies a rate of 1s. 6d. in the £ on
properties at Cape St. Mary and Fajara and 104. in the £ on
properties elsewhere. No taxes are levied.

In the Protectorate, the Group Treasuries levy a district rate.
This varies slightly in different areas and was increased in 1960 and
again in 1961. The average rate 1s:

For each yard of 4 huts . : : : 40s.
For each extra hut . 2 8s.
For each hut with cnrrugdte:d iron mnf an °

additional . : : : : “ 5s.
For each lodger ; - : : - 8s.
For each strange farmer . . = 12s.

The total estimated revenue and expcndlturc of the local author-

ities during the period were as follows:
Revenue Expenditure

£ ) £
Bathurst Town Council . 1960 40,277 42,011
= - 3 . 1961 42,350 48,754
Kombo Rural Authority . 1960 4,843 6,841

- . 1961 5,500 5,399
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Revenue Expenditure
£ £

Brikama Area Council 1960/61 17,776 21,656
Mansa Konko Group Treasury ., 16,001 17,443

' Kerewan Group Treasury 2% 20,983 27,066
Georgetown Group Treasury . 13,242 14,083
Kuntaur Group Treasury “ 12,490 13,933
Basse Area Council - 24,175 13,813

Chapter 4: Currency and Banking

CURRENCY In circulation, as derived from the books of the West
African Currency Board, was as follows:

Total Notes Coin
End 1960 ; i . £8,719.000 £8,315,000 £404,000
End 1961 J : . £8,940,000 £8,473,000 £467,000

' These figures represent the net issues less redemptions in the Gambia,
' but much of this currency finds its way out of the country, and it is
estimated that the actual circulation inside the country is not more
‘than £3 million.

. Circulation is always at its highest point in December and January,

‘when large amounts are issued for the purchase of groundnuts. As
‘a rule these seasonal issues of currency are quickly used for the pur-

‘chase of goods, and circulation falls in March and April, remaining
low until the opening of the next trade season. Notes of the Banque
de I’Afrique Occidental circulate freely in parts of the Protectorate
and British West African currency circulates across the border in
Senegal and Casamance.

Early in 1961 an examination of the currency systems of the
Gambia and Sierra Leone in the light of political developments was
made by Mr. J. B. Loynes of the Bank of England, and his report
was published as Sessional Paper No. 12/61.

~ The Bank of West Africa is the only bank operating in the Gambia;
it has the one branch at Bathurst. The principal trading firms make
their own arrangements for remitting funds for their businesses in
the Protectorate. The Government river steamer service carries
money as freight, and small amounts are transmitted through the
post office on board the steamer (money order remittances) and
through district treasuries and post offices at Basse, Georgetown,
Kuntaur, Mansakonko and Brikama.

Savings Bank deposits amounted to £293,000 at the end of 1960
and the total sum held by the Gambia Government in the United
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- The system of farming employed is in effect a cycle of cultivation
alternating with a period of fallow during which the land reverts to

ush and the depleted fertility is partly restored. Manuring by means
of tethered cattle is also employed.

l
Land Tenure in the Protectorate

. Land tenure in the Protectorate is regulated by the Protectorate
'éi.ands Ordinance. This was designed to preserve the existing cus-
‘tomary rights of the inhabitants of the Protectorate to use and enjoy
the land, and to regulate the interests which could be acquired by
non-Gambians. Its effect is to vest the land in the District Author-
ities in trust for the inhabitants according to native law and custom.
‘The Ordinance laid down the procedure to be adopted for leasing
land, limiting the terms of years which could be granted, for fixing
and revising rents, and for the compulsory acquisition of land for
public purposes. No land can be occupied by a *non-indigene”
'without the consent of the Authority concerned and, unless such
consent is further implemented by the approval of the Divisional
‘Commissioner, the occupier is deemed to be merely a tenant at will.
‘The use and occupation of land by Gambians is still governed by
{ law. ’

I

Land Tenure in the Colony

: Land tenure in the Colony is regulated by the Colony Lands
‘Ordinance. Land in the Colony is either freehold or Crown land.
Substantially all the freehold land is situated in Bathurst itself, where
;0 per cent of the town plots are freehold, with many grants dating
'back to the first half of the nineteenth century. The percentage is
'dropping as more reclaimed land becomes available for leasing by
‘the Crown, and it may eventually be no more than 50 per cent of
the total number of plots.

No freehold grants have been made in recent years and under the
‘Colony Lands Ordinance no such grants may be made without the
approval of the Secretary of State except in cases of exchange for a
freehold returned to the Crown. Leases of Crown land in the Colony
are granted by the Government for terms, in some cases, of up to
99 years to encourage the erection of substantial buildings, but most
residential leases are for 21 years with an option for a further 21
'years. In the Kombo St. Mary Division, land is held either on lease
under the Colony Lands Ordinance, or on customary tenure. In
effect, in such cases, the Crown is in the position of the District
Authorities in the Protectorate.
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coastal villages is distributed by lorry and by bicycle to Bathurst
and in the Kombo and Niumi districts. The distribution is mainly
done by “banna-banna”, petty traders who buy fish from the
fishermen and retail it in the markets. The fish smoking and drying
industry is well established in the Kombo districts and considerable
quantities of cured fish are supplied not only to other areas of the
Gambia but also to Sierra Leone. Up-river most commercial fishing
is done by fishermen from the Senegal. Their large ocean-going
canoes may be seen at all times of the year but especially in the
trade season, when they import salt which, with the fish they catch,
is sold or exchanged for rice and millet for export to the Senegal.

SHIPEUILDING

There is an old-established boat-building craft at Bathurst and across
the river at Barra., These shipwrights produce sailing cutters of
unusual design, probably of early Portuguese origin. Cutter building
is now limited to repairs and occasional replacements.

The shipwrights also build distinctive sailing canoes, some of
which carry two top sails, and small fishing canoes. Their number
at the 1951 census was given as 119, but has probably declined.

MINING

Ilminite was exported for a few years, but the deposits on the old
storm beaches along the Atlantic coast proved less extensive than
was originally thought, and this, coupled with a fall in the world
price of ilminite, led to the closing of the project in February 1959.

Magnetic and seismic surveys have been carried out to discover

whether workable reserves of oil are present in the Gambia, but two
test drills, both sunk near Bathurst, were abandoned.

CO-OPERATIVE SOCIETIES

The Co-operative Societies Ordinance 1950 is administered by the
Registrar of Co-operative Societies assisted by two assistant
registrars and eight inspectors.

Since 1955 when the development programme was started, the
number of societies has increased from four with 74 members to
62 with 7,984 members. In the 1960-61 season marketing societies
handled 6.6 per cent of the total groundnut crop as opposed to
4.1 per cent in 1959-60.

During 1960 the policy of forming village marketing societies
federated into district unions was abandoned and seven large new
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exception of the Gambia High School, which is independent. At
Yundum College Government trains teachers. Government is also
responsible for the Clerical and Technical schools. The Board of
Education advises Government on matters of policy.

In December 1961 on the occasion of the visit of Her Majesty
the Queen and the Duke of Edinburgh, over 5,000 Bathurst school
children paraded in MacCarthy Square ; about 1,000 infants marched
past the Royal Party, and the remainder were inspected by the Queen
and the Duke from a Landrover. Another 1,500 children saw the
Queen at Kanifing and 1,000 pupils witnessed the opening of the
Chief’s Conference at Brikama.

Primary Education

There are 58 primary schools in the whole country with an enrol-
ment of 7,694 pupils: 15 schools are in the Colony area and account
for about 55 per cent of the enrolment.

Of the 12 schools in Bathurst itself, eight were formerly voluntary
agency schools which were taken over by Government under the
terms of the 1945 Local Agreement; they are financed and staffed
entirely by Government, but are managed by committees on which
denominational interests (Roman Catholic, Anglican, Methodist and
Muslim) have majority representation. Of the remainder, two are
non-denominational Government schools, and two are *private
mission schools.

In Kombo St. Mary Division, there are three schools, with a to_tal
enrolment of over 1,100 pupils; two are Government and the third
is Roman Catholic.

The 43 Protectorate schools have an enrolment of 3,408 pupils;
31 of these are District Authority schools, which are staffed mainly
by Government teachers and maintained from District funds. The
remaining schools are run by the Missions; 11 are Roman Catholic,
and one is Anglican (Kristikunda). The salaries of qualified teachers
in these schools are paid by Government.

In the Colony area, pupils are admitted to school at the age of
five to six years; they spend six to seven years in primary classes
before attempting the entrance examination to secondary grammar
schools, to which about 30 per cent gain admission. The remaining
pupils either transfer to the new Secondary Modern school at Crab
Island, or (in the case of the Roman Catholic and Kombo St. Mary
schools) attend post-primary classes for a further three years in the
same school, at the end of which they take the Government Stan-
dard VII school-leaving examination. The number of pupils seeking
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admission to Bathurst schools in the past two years has exceeded
the number of places available, and Government has found it
necessary to restrict entry to 450 pupils each year. Priority has been
given to the older pupils and as a result the age of entry is gradually
rising, and is expected to have reached six years by 1962. Government
is planning by that date to provide sufficient accommodation for all
pupils who register for entry to primary school in Bathurst and the
Colony, and schools are being built with the help of a Colonial
Development and Welfare grant.

In the Protectorate the District Authority school course was
originally limited to four years. This has since 1959 been extended to
SiX years.

It is estimated that there is now almost universal demand for
primary education in the Colony. In the Protectorate the demand
varies according to the area, but averages about 20 per cent; there
is a substantial increase each year, and there has been an overall
increase in enrolment of 50 per cent in the past two years. The
development of education in the Protectorate is restricted by the
supply of teachers, and the ability to finance and construct the
necessary buildings.

Fees of 10s. per annum are charged in all Government schools
and 10s. or £1 in District Authority schools.

Secondary Education

There are three secondary grammar schools offering full secondary
courses leading to the West African School Certificate. Two of these
are Roman Catholic Mission schools: St. Augustine’s (boys) and
St. Joseph’s (girls). The third is the Gambia High School, which
absorbed the two Methodist High Schools and the School of Science.
This school was established by Ordinance as an independent, co-
educational, non-denominational school under the control of a
Board of Governors. It is housed in the former Methodist Girls’
High School until new buildings are completed; these were begun
in 1959 with the construction of a science block, occupied in 1960.
The class-room block is due to be completed in 1962 and the
remaining buildings in 1963. There were 195 pupils including 74 girls
in 1961.

Sixth form classes were started at the Gambia High School in
1960 and the first pupils sat Advanced level subjects of the General
Certificate of Education examination in January 1962. Government
has awarded scholarships to all sixth form pupils who have gained
a 1st or 2nd grade certificate in the West African School Certificate



J Social Services 31

examination, and it is hoped that this will enable pupils to enter
university direct from school.

A Government post-primary school at Crab Island in Bathurst
offers a three-year course for pupils who do not gain entry to
secondary grammar schools. In 1961 there were 16 classes and 520
pupils (including 145 girls). The school incorporated the Government
Arts and Crafts and Domestic Science Centre and all the pupils in
Bathurst post-primary classes, with the exception of those in Roman
Catholic schools. The course is to be extended in 1962.

In the Protectorate, Armitage School provides a five-year post-
primary boarding course for pupils who have completed the primary
course in District Authority schools. The school has now been rebuilt
and provides boarding accommodation for 240 pupils, including
some girls. Plans for its development to a full secondary school are
in hand.

Tuition fees in Bathurst secondary grammar schools are £6 per
annum in Roman Catholic schools, and £9 per annum in the Gambia
High School; pupils provide their own books and school uniform.
Government awards 20 scholarships a year to pupils entering
secondary grammar schools and other awards are made by the
Bathurst Town Council and from the Gambia War Memorial fund.
Fees at Crab Island school and in post-primary classes in Catholic
and Kombo St. Mary schools are £3 per annum. Fees at Armitage
are £7 10s. per annum for boarding and tuition; most of these are
paid by District Authorities on behalf of pupils from their districts.

Teacher Training

Yundum College, situated 15 miles from Bathurst, is the only
institution for the training of teachers. The college now admits
50 students each year, both men and women, for a three-year resi-
dential course. Students are selected by examination and interview
from pupils who have completed at least ten years’ schooling; pupils
who have completed their secondary schooling are now admitted to
a two-year course. There were 97 students including 21 women in
1961, and 29 students completed the course.

Students receive an allowance whilst at the college, from which
they contribute towards board and lodging expenses. Students and
teachers are also sent to the United Kingdom for training. In 1961
there were two students taking the Ministry of Education Certificate
at training colleges in the United Kingdom, and five teachers were
absent on one-year courses under the Commonwealth Teacher
Training Bursary Scheme.
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work, enforcement of building regulations, inspections of shops, etc.
to the more elementary measures such as mass vaccination, com-
pound inspection, and simple health education in the Protectorate.
In Bathurst much of the work of environmental sanitation is carried
out by the Bathurst Town Council, with technical advice from the
Government Medical Officer of Health. Disposal of refuse in Bat-
hurst has been greatly improved by introducing a system of tractors
and trailers specially modified for this work.

Endemic and Epidemic Diseases

Leprosy. The arrival of a Medical Officer, Leprosy, in March 1961 1
provided a very necessary stimulus to the Leprosy Control Service.
At the end of the year the staff engaged in leprosy work consisted
of the Medical Officer, the Leprosy Control Officer provided by
B.E.L.R.A., one Leprosy Inspector, 12 Assistant Leprosy Inspectors,
and two clinic assistants. The Medical Officer was stationed centrally
at Mansakonko, in the Lower River Division; the Control Officer
was at Bansang, to supervise Allatento Isolation Village, and the
two Divisions in the interior; and the junior staff were spread evenly
throughout the Protectorate.

Previously treatment had been based.on static clinics, of which
there are about fifty. This system has been found to lead to a ve
high defaulters rate, due to the long distances which many patients’
had to travel to reach a clinic, the high incidence of ulcers and
deformities of the feet, and transport difficulties. It was decided tha
the static clinics must be supplemented by a system of mobile treat-
ment circuits, and these were introduced in 1961. At first motor-
cycles were used, provided by UNICEF, but it was found that they
rapidly became unroadworthy. In consequence the circuits were
maintained by bicycles, pending the arrival of six Landrovers which
UNICEF has undertaken to provide during 1962. The distance
covered by each mobile circuit varies between 70 and 200 miles per
week, depending on the type of vehicle, and permits the treatment
of between 50 and 200 patients daily at about five to ten stops.
These stops are made either at convenient shelters put up by the
villagers or under a tree. 5

At the beginning of the year 6,257 patients were registered for
treatment, but it was considered that only 30 to 40 per cent of t@

were attendmg 1‘:3gul.ar1},«r for treatment. The Medical Officer rev

the registers, and in doing so removed the names of 2,991 who h
defaulted from treatment, and of 72 who had died. He alsn dlschal'ged_
229 patients as cured. These were the first cases officially discharged
as cured, and the process is continuing as the Medical Officer con-









Her Majesty the Queen speaking to members of the Bathurst Town
Council, who were introduced by the Chairman, Mr. B. O.Jannel M.B.F.
at a garden party at Government House



Meeting of the Gambia Constitutional Conference in London
in Julv 1961
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The General Post Office, Bathurst



Children marching past Her Majesty the Queen and His Royval Highness
the Duke of Edinburgh on MacCarthy Square

The Gambia High School, Bathurst, nearing completion



The Premier’s Office and the Ministry of Finance, Bathurst
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Whooping Cough. Although there was no severe epidemic of
whooping cough in the period, this disease occurs every year, and
is, like measles, particularly severe in young and debilitated children.
Following an epidemic in 1956, it was decided to immunise the child
population of Bathurst under the age of five years. The vaccine
originally used was “triple antigen™, which provides immunity to
tetanus and diphtheria, as well as to whooping cough. Early in 1961
a change was made from the “triple antigen™ to a “double antigen”,
which omitted the diphtheria component, as there is no apparent
clinical evidence of the latter disease in the Gambia,

Poliomyelitis. Two cases were notified in 1961. It seems likely that,
with recognition that cases can occur in the Gambia, more cases will
be notified in the future. A small-scale sample of 30 blood specimens
was taken in the Protectorate by the M.R.C. Tropical Laboratories
some years ago, and all specimens were found to be immune to the
three types of polio-virus. With a rising standard of living, cases may
be expected to occur, especially in Bathurst. Arrangements are being
made to hold small stocks of salk and oral vaccine.

Measles. In 1961, 1,526 cases were notified, with 29 deaths. The
latter certainly were under-notified, since it is known that in the
Gambia measles has a high case mortality rate. In addition it has
been found by the Trachoma Research Unit of the M.R.C. that
measles i1s one of the principal causes of blindness in the Gambia.
There is therefore much interest in the possible production of a safe
and efficient measles vaccine in the near future, and the World
Health Organisation’s tentative proposal for the co-operation of this
Government in field trials of such a vaccine has been welcomed.

Malnutrition. Since the second World War a great deal of work
has been done on nutrition in the Gambia. Protein deficiencies have
been reported, and also certain vitamin deficiencies, although neither
of them to the extent which occurs in many parts of the world. The
subject was considered sufficiently important to invite the assistance
of the World Health Organisation and UNICEF, and a supplemen-
tary nutrition and school feeding project was begun in Bathurst in
1956. The supplements consist of dried skim milk and capsules of
Vitamins A and D. The recipients are pregnant women, nursing
mothers, children under the age of six years, and schoolchildren
between the ages of six and 10 years. Distribution to the first three
groups is made through the maternity and child welfare clinics, and
to the last group through the schools. The daily ration of skim milk
powder is two ounces.

When the scheme was started it was considered necessary to add
sugar to the dried milk, to make it palatable. However, when the
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burnt and pulverised oyster and cockle shells), forms a practical and
hygienic structure. Split rhuns and corrugated iron sheets are used
for roofing, since the current building regulations prohibit the use
of inflammable materials in the town.

Outside Bathurst, buildings are generally constructed from mud
blocks, krinting and plaster or woven grass, with corrugated iron or
thatched roofs, the latter of conical or pyramidal form, supported
on frames of rhun or mangrove poles.

In both town and country European-style houses are erected when
funds permit the owner to do so. They are usually single storeyed,
raised two to four feet above ground level on rafts of mud plastered
with cement. Cement block walls and corrugated iron roofs are
popular.

Housing Loans Scheme

A Housing Loans Scheme has been operated for the benefit of
civil servants for several years. Loans repayable over a period may
be made for the purchase or erection of buildings against mortgage
of the property.

SOCIAL WELFARE

Social welfare continued to be the concern of Government and
private agencies. The Social Welfare Officer’s activities were trans-
ferred in 1961 from the Ministry of Health to that of Education.
This officer co-ordinates the activites of voluntary organisations.

The Central Council of Youth Clubs in the Gambia, which co-
ordinates the activities of affiliated youth clubs, Girl Guides and
Boy Scouts Associations, continued to run a centre at the King
George VI Memorial Hall. The Council employs a full-time warden
who is responsible for organising various youth activities. The
Council was represented at the eighth council meeting organised by
World Assembly of Youth in Accra in August 1960, and also at a
Youth Seminar in Tanganyika in 1961.

Other agencies connected with social welfare are the social,
cultural and recreational centre founded by the British Council, the
Gambia Branch of the British Legion which looks after the welfare
of ex-servicemen, the Gambia Branch of the British Red Cross
Society, and the different religious bodies.

A grant of £250 is made from public funds for relief of destitution
and a further amount of £120 is available for payment to foster
parents for maintenance of juvenile delinquents and children in need
of care or protection.
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River Services

A weekly passenger and freight river service is maintained by
H.M.C.S. Lady Wright and Fulladu sailing alternately. During the
two-year period under review, 46,647 passengers and 6,630 tons of
cargo were transported. A postal service is maintained aboard each
vessel; in addition the Lady Wright provides a wireless telegraph
service.

Ferry services for passengers and vehicles are operated by the
Marine Department at eight points on the River Gambia and also
across two major creeks. New terminals for the Bathurst-Barra ferry
were completed during the period.

The Governor’s Yacht Mansa Kila Kuta is maintained and manned
by the Marine Department, which is also responsible for operating
and maintaining the Government fleet of launches.

ROADS

Theie are approximately 730 miles of roads in the territory, excluding
district tracks. Of this total only 95 miles had until 1961 been fully
constructed and bitumenised, the river having been regarded as the
main artery of the Gambia. The current five-year programme allows
for the reconstruction of 316 miles of Protectorate roads to all-
weather standard and for the provision of bridges and culverts to
British Standard Heavy Loading.

The reconstruction of 218 miles of this programme is well under
way by direct labour and 90 miles were completed. It is planned
to complete 50 miles of new construction a year in addition to con-
tract work. A 35-mile section of the Brikama-Mansakonko road
(total length 88 miles) was completed by contract and work com-
menced on the remaining 53 miles. This project has been treated
separately because a high standard of construction is required.
When completed the road, which has a 20-foot-wide bitumenised
carriageway, will provide an important link between Bathurst and
the Trans-Gambia road, which carries traffic between the Senegal
and Casamance.

CIVIL AVIATION

The international aerodrome is at Yundum, 17 miles from Bat-
hurst. The Director of Public Works is Controller of Aviation and
the airport control services are run on behalf of the Government by
International Aeradio Limited. The Public Works Department
maintains runways, buildings and water services, and the Electricity
Department maintains the runway lighting and standby alternator.
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PART III
Chapter 1: Geography

THE Gambia river is one of the finest waterways of West Africa.
It rises near Labe, on the Futa Jallon Plateau, and first flows away
north eastwards before swinging round in an extensive arc, so that
it is flowing generally westwards towards the Atlantic by the time
it enters the Gambia territory near Koina, 295 miles from its mouth,
From Koina, in the region known as the Upper River, it proceeds
in a series of large meanders to a point a few miles below MacCarthy
Island where it swings into the loop which is such a notable feature
of the Middle River.

As the river emerges from this loop its character changes. It
becomes much broader, and mangroves appear along its banks.
The presence of mangroves is a sign of brackish water, and, in fact,
salt water extends 120 miles up stream at the height of the dry
season, though during the rains it is swept down stream as far as
Elephant Island, 93 miles from the mouth of the river. Elephant
Island is really the head of the estuary (the Lower River), where
the broad river looks like an arm of the sea, as in fact it is. A solid
wall of mangroves limits the view from the water, except in stretches
such as that near Albreda where sandstone outcrops take the place
of the riverine swamps.

Quite large ocean-going vessels can enter the main port of Bat-
hurst, for the water over the bar is comparatively deep. Smaller
vessels can sail 150 miles up stream to Kuntaur, and moor directly
against the river bank.

The division into Upper River, Middle, and Lower River is useful.
In the Upper River the main stream flows in a gorge considerably
below the level of the flattish land on either side. It is only at the
time of the highest floods that the river is so swollen that it over-
flows its banks, producing narrow swampy tracts on each side.
Beyond these swamps stretch the sandstone * uplands,” notable for
the production of groundnuts upon which the economy of the
Gambia so largely depends.

These uplands form the edge of the extensive Senegambian Sand-
stone Plateau, here gashed by the River Gambia itself. Gently, but
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surely, this plateau becomes lower in elevation towards the west,
until in the Middle River its level is not greatly above that of the
riverine lands. Here there i1s no gorge; instead, broad swamps
extend for a mile or more away from the river along either bank.
These are the main banto faros, flooded during the rains but above
water during the dry season, and their comparatively fertile soils
afford good prospects for the growing of swamp rice, which is a
main crop of the Middle River.

In the Lower River the banto faros are still prominent, but in a
modified form owing to the salinity of the water of the estuary.
The wall of mangroves along the river frontage is a very distinctive
feature. The flood waters of the rainy season are saline; this severely
limits the value of the swamps for it means that rice growing is not
at present possible in the salt-impregnated soils.

Population, therefore, avoids these useless and unhealthy swamps,
and is concentrated on the sandy plateaus away from the river.
Two extensions of these plateaus should be noted: one extending
southwards from the border of Senegal to the river in the stretch
near Albreda, and the other extending northwards from the border
of Casamance to Cape St. Mary, near Bathurst, where it abruptly
terminates in low cliffs. This second sandstone area is comparatively
heavily populated, as it is not only swamp free, but also benefits
climatically from the sea breezes which sweep across it from the
Atlantic.

The Island of St. Mary, which protrudes eastwards and so narrows I
the mouth of the river, is simply a sand bar extended southwards by I
mangrove swamps. The capital and chief port, Bathurst, lies on its !
easterly tip. It was originally located there to control slave trading
on the river. Land reclamation has now improved what was naturally |
a very poor site for the capital of the Gambia. Bathurst is connected
with the adjacent Kombo St. Mary, on the mainland to the west of
Bathurst, by a bridge. 11

A glance at the map suggests that the boundaries of the territory
have been arbitrarily drawn at a general distance of six miles from
the river banks, except in parts of the Lower River. There remain |
close economic and social links between the inhabitants of the |
Gambia and the surrounding territories; for instance, many cattle
move in to the Gambia from across the border each year, and the
“strange farmers” who help with the growing of groundnuts and
are mentioned elsewhere in the Report.

FLE W
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Population
Bathurst, the capital, is the only town in the Gambia and has a
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population which was estimated at 24,500 in 1961. About half this
number are Wollof, and Aku (de-tribalised Africans whose
ancestors were liberated slaves or refugees from other areas
at the time of the slave trade), Mandingo, Jola, Fula and Severe
make up the rest.

The Island of St. Mary and Kombo St. Mary have a total area
of about 30 square miles and together make up the Colony area.
The population of Kombo St. Mary was estimated at 9,600 in 1961.

The Protectorate, which comprises the whole of the Gambia other
than the Colony, has a total area of 3,978 square miles and a popula-
tion of some 253,200.

The Mandingo are the most numerous tribe in the Protectorate
totalling about 102,000, followed by the Fula and Wollof tribes.
Chapter 1 of Part Il of this Report deals with the population of
the territory.

Land Utilisation

There are no plantations or estates, the main cash crop, ground-
nuts, being raised entirely by African farmers under a system of
shifting cultivation. The principal crops for local consumption are
rice, sorghum, millet, cassava, maize, beans and onions.

Forest produce is quite considerable in the Protectorate. An
important source of building material is the rhun palm (Borassus
flabellifer), which is used for bridge building, for the building of
wharves and, when split, as roofing poles upon which thatch is laid.
Mangrove poles are also used in house building and for fence posts.
The bamboo (Oxtenanthera abyssinicia) is used for making krinting
(woven bamboo) fencing and house walls.

Fauna

The fauna of the Gambia is a large one but includes little big
game. Hyaenas and jackals often cause trouble foraging in village
burial grounds. Dog-faced baboons, which are common throughout
the Protectorate, move about in troops often numbering 100 or more,
causing damage to crops. Among the edible game there are bush-
fowl, guinea fowl, antelope, teal, spur-winged geese and sand grouse.
Hippopotami and crocodile are found in the river.

Insects include mosquitoes and tstetse-flies.

Climate

The Gambia, in common with most of West Africa, has a tropical
climate. From about November until April the dominating air
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stream is from the north-east and east (the harmattan), while for
the rest of the year it is from the west or south-west (the monsoon).
The harmattan brings dry conditions; the monsoon brings the rains.

Conditions are pleasant from December to April, when tempera-
tures as low as 45° have been recorded up river. This is the cool
season, and it is dry. The hot season follows, when temperatures
over 100° are not uncommon up river during the heat of the after-
noons, though 90° is rarely exceeded in Bathurst. This can be a
very trying period of the year. It is relieved by the onset of the
squalls (in May up river, in June in Bathurst) which herald the
approach of the rainy season. The average annual rainfall is about
45 inches in Bathurst, but figures vary widely from year to year.
On at least one occasion 24 inches has been recorded, while as much
as 66 inches of rain has fallen in a single year. Such variability
creates difficulties for the farmers.

More squalls are experienced as the rains draw to a close in
September or October, when temperatures and humidities are apt
to be high. Conditions then gradually revert to those of the cool
S€asonmn,.

Communications

Bathurst is the main port, but ocean-going steamers known as
“groundnutters” load groundnuts at the up river ports of Kuntaur

and Kaur. The river also provides inland communication with the

narrow hinterland, and the Marine Department runs regular river-
steamer services as far as Basse in the Upper River Division.

Elder Dempster Lines and other companies operate irregular
services of cargo vessels, some carrying a limited number of passen-
gers, to and from the United Kingdom. One of the Elder Dempster
mail boats calls at Bathurst on her regular six-weekly trip between
Liverpool and West Africa, and again on her return journey. There
are regular air-services from Yundum Airport, 17 miles from Bat-
hurst, to the United Kingdom, Europe, Dakar and to other countries
in West Africa.

There are some 95 miles of bituminous-surfaced roads in the

vicinity of Bathurst. The road systems up river consist largely of
earth tracks, which may be impassable during the rains, but there

are stretches of gravelled road. Work is in progress on the recon-
struction of the main roads to an all-weather standard. The Trans-
Gambian Road of Senegal, which connects Dakar in the north with’

Ziguinchor in the south, crosses the Gambia some 80 miles from
Bathurst.

.



Chapter 2: History

THE banks of the Gambia River have been inhabited for many
centuries and a number of stone circles of ancient origin exist, but
there is insufficient archaeological or written evidence to throw much
light on the early history of the country. Established record begins
with the European exploration of the West African coast.

The first Europeans to visit the River Gambia were Mosto, a
Venetian, and di Mare, a Genoese. They were commissioned by
Prince Henry the Navigator of Portugal to lead an expedition along
the African coast to the south of Cape Verde and arrived in the
River Gambia in 1455, but only proceeded a short way up stream.
They repeated their voyage in the following year, when they pro-
ceeded farther up the river and got in touch with some of the native
chiefs. When they were near the river’s mouth, “they cast anchor
on a Sunday morning at an island in the shape of a smoothing iron,
where one of the sailors, who had died of fever, was buried, and as
his name was Andrew, being well loved, they gave the island the
name of St. Andrew”., For some three centuries afterwards the
history of the European occupation of the Gambia was largely the
history of this island.

This discovery was followed by attempts on the part of the Por-
tuguese at settlement along the river banks. The number of settlers
never appears at any time to have been large and such few as there
were intermarried with the native African races. The European strain
in their descendants rapidly diminished and, in the course of time,
it became difficult to distinguish them from the indigenous races
except for the fact that they styled themselves Portuguese, affected
European dress and names, and professed to be Christians. Com-
munities of Portuguese descent continued to live on the banks of
the Gambia in separate villages well into the midd'e of the eighteenth
century. Portuguese churches existed up to 1730 at San Domingo
(near Albreda), Geregia (sc. Portuguese “igreja’””) near Kansala in
Foni, and Tankular. The farthest Portuguese settlement up the river
was at Setuku near Fattatenda.

In 1580 the throne of Portugal was seized by Phillip II of Spain
and a number of Portuguese took refuge in England. In 1587 one
of these refugees, Francisco Ferreira, piloted two English ships to
the Gambia and returned with a profitable cargo of hides and ivory.
In the following year Antonia, Prior of Crato, who laid claim to the
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Portuguese throne, sold to certain London and Devon merchants
the exclusive right to trade between the Rivers Senegal and Gambia.
This grant was confirmed to the grantees for a period of 10 years
by letters patent of Queen Elizabeth. The patentees sent several
vessels to the coast, but owing to Portuguese hostility did not
venture further south than Joal—30 miles to the north of the mouth
of the River Gambia. They reported that the Gambia was ““a river
of secret trade and riches, concealed by the Portugals. For long
since one Frenchman entered with a small barque, which was
betrayed, surprised and taken by two gallies of the Portugals.” In
1612 another attempt by the French to settle in the Gambia ended
disastrously owing to sickness and mortality.

Letters patent conferring (inter alia) all the right of exclusive trade
in the River Gambia were subsequently granted in 1598, 1618 and
1632 to other adventurers, but no attempt was made by the English
to explore the river until 1618. The expedition in that year was
commanded by George Thompson and had for its objective the
opening up of trade with Timbuktu. Leaving his ship at Gassan,
Thompson proceeded with a small party in boats as far as the river
Neriko. During his absence the crew of his ship were massacred by
the Portuguese, but some of Thompson’s party managed on their
return to make their way overland to Cape Verde and thence to
England. Thompson remained in the Gambia with seven com-
panions, but was killed by one of them in a sudden quarrel. In the
meantime a relief expedition had been sent out under command of
Richard Jobson, who seized some Portuguese shipping as a reprisal
for the massacre at Gassan. Jobson also made his way up to Neriko
and subsequently gave a glowing account of the commercial poten-
tialities of the River Gambia in his Golden Trade. But both his and
the previous expedition had resulted in considerable losses and
a subsequent voyage, which he made in 1624, proved a complete
failure. In the circumstances the patentees made no further attempt
to exploit the resources of the Gambia, but confined their attention
to the Gold Coast.

In 1651 the Commonwealth granted a patent to certain London
merchants who in that and the following year sent two expeditions
to the River Gambia and established a trading post at Bintang.
Members of the expedition proceeded as far as the Barakunda Falls
in search of gold, but the climate took its toll. In 1652 Prince Rupert
entered the Gambia with three Royalist ships and captured the
patentees’ vessels. After this heavy loss the patentees abandoned
further enterprise in the Gambia.

In the meantime, James, Duke of Courland, who was the godson
of James I of England, had, in about 1651, obtained from various
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native chiets the cession of St. Andrew’s Island and land at Banyon

~ Point (Half Die), Juffure and Gassan. Settlers, merchants and

missionaries were sent out by Courland and forts were erected on
St. Andrew’s Island and at Banyon Point. In 1658 the Duke of
Courland was made a prisoner by the Swedes during a war between
Sweden and Poland. As a consequence, funds ceased to be available
for the maintenance of the garrisons and settlements in the Gambia,
and in 1659 the Duke of Courland’s agent at Amsterdam entered
into an agreement with the Dutch West India Company whereby
the Duke’s possessions in the Gambia were handed over to the
Company until such time as the Duke should be in a position to
resume possession. In 1660 St. Andrew’s Fort was captured and
plundered by a French privateer in the Swedish service. The Dutch
thereafter abandoned the fort and the Courlanders resumed
possession.

After the Restoration, English interest in the Gambia was revived
as the result of information which Prince Rupert had obtained in
1652 regarding the reputed existence of a gold mine in the upper
reaches of the river. In 1660 a new patent was granted to a number
of persons, who were styled the Royal Adventurers Trading to
Africa and of whom the most prominent were James, Duke of York,
and Prince Rupert. At the end of that year the Adventurers sent
an expedition to the Gambia under the command of Major Robert
Holmes who had been with Prince Rupert in the Gambia in 1652.
Holmes arrived in the river at the beginning of the following year.
He proceeded to occupy Dog Island, which he renamed Charles
Island, and to erect a temporary fort there. On the 18th March
1661, he sailed up to St. Andrew’s Island and called upon the Cour-
lander officer in command to surrender, threatening to bombard the
fort if his request was not complied with. There were only seven
Europeans in the garrison and the Courlanders had no alternative
but to submit. On the following day, Holmes took possession of the
fort, which he renamed James Fort after the Duke of York. An
attempt was made in 1662 by the Dutch West India Company to
gain possession of the fort, firstly, by inciting the natives of Barra
against the English, secondly, by offering bribes to certain of the
English officers, and lastly by bombarding the fort. None of these
measures proved successful and the English remained in possession
of the island. In the meantime the Duke of Courland had lodged a
protest against the seizure of his possessions in time of peace. On
the 17th November 1664, after protracted negotiations, he relin-
quished in favour of Charles II all claim to his African possessions
and in return was granted the island of Tobago and the right for
himself personally to trade in the River Gambia.
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In 1677 the Royal Adventurers sublet their rights between Capes
Blanco and Palmas to another body of adventurers, who came to
be known as the Gambia Adventurers. On the expiration of the
lease in 1678, the rights reverted to the Royal African Company,
which had purchased the rights and property of the Royal Adven-
turers six years previously.

In 1677 the French wrested the island of Goree from the Dutch.
The history of the next century and a half is the history of a con-
tinuous struggle between England and France for political and
commercial supremacy in the regions of the Senegal and Gambia.
By 1681 the French had acquired a small enclave at Albreda opposite
James Island. Except for short periods, during which trouble with
the natives of Barra or hostilities with England compelled them
temporarily to abandon the place, they retained their foothold there
until 1857.

In the wars with France following upon the English Revolution,
James Fort was captured on four occasions by the French, namely,
1695, 1702, 1704 and 1708, but no attempt was made by them to
occupy the fort permanently. At the treaty of Utrecht in 1713 the
French recognised the right of the English to James Island and their
settlements in the River Gambia.

One of the aftermaths of these wars was an outbreak of piracy
along the West African coast. The English trade in the Gambia
suffered from the depredations of these pirates. In 1719 one of their
number, Howel Davis, captured James Fort. An even more serious
disaster occurred in 1721, when part of the garrison mutinied under
the leadership of one of their officers, Captain John Massey, and
seizing the Company’s ships, themselves turned pirate. Finally, in
1725, James Fort was very extensively damaged by an accidental
explosion of gunpowder.

After these setbacks the African Company enjoyed 20 years of
comparative prosperity. A very detailed account of the life and work
of the Company’s servants in the Gambia during this period is given
in Francis Moore’s Travels into the Inland Parts of Africa. Factories
was established as far up the river as Fattatenda and at other places,
and a fairly considerable trade was carried on with the interior of
the continent.

Nevertheless, despite an annual subsidy from the British Govern-
ment for the maintenance of their forts, the African Company became
in course of time involved in grave financial difficulties. In 1749 James
Island was found to be “in a most miserable condition, the people
in a melancholy situation for want of goods to carry on trade to
support their garrison, not having had any supplies for upwards of
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five years, and not being allowed to trade for themselves the con-
sequences of which were that they were obliged to call in their out-
factors on the continent. By being so neglected the chief trade is
gone down the River Senegal to the French factory”. In the following
year it was reported that the garrison at James Fort “was reduced
by sickness from twenty-five or thirty men to five or eight and, the
officers being all dead, a common soldier had succeeded to the
command”.

By 1750 the position had become critical and an Act of Parliament
was passed divesting the African Company of its charter and vesting
its forts and settlements in a new company, which was controlled
by a committee of merchants. The Act prohibited the new company
from trading in its corporate capacity but allowed it an annual sub-
sidy for the upkeep of the forts. It was hoped thereby to prevent the
monopolistic tendencies of rule by a joint stock company and at
the same time to save the Government the expense entailed by the
creation of a colonial civil service.

In 1765 the forts and settlements in the Gambia were, by another
Act of Parliament, taken from this new compay and vested in the
Crown. For the next 18 years the Gambia formed part of the Crown
Colony of Senegambia. Government headquarters was at St. Louis
at the mouth of the River Senegal and a Lieutenant-Governor was
appointed to take charge of James Fort and the settlements in the
Gambia.

In 1779 the French captured James Fort for the fifth and last time.
On this occasion they so successfully demolished the fortifications
that at the close of the war it was found impossible to rebuild them.
Except for the brief period after the Napoleonic Wars, when the
island was temporarily occupied by a handful of troops as an out-
post, James Island ceased to play any part in the history of the
Gambia.

In 1780 the French privateer, Senegal, captured four vessels which
had been sent, with part of the British garrison at Goree under the
command of Major Houghton, to the Bintang Creek to obtain
building material. The Senegal was in its turn attacked by H.M.S.
Zephyr and captured after a very warm action off Barra Point. The
prizes had in the meantime been destroyed, but the troops, who had
taken refuge on shore and had been befriended by the Jolas of Foni,
were rescued by the Zephyr.

In 1783, St. Louis and Goree were handed back to France and
Senegambia ceased to exist as a British Colony. The Gambia was
therefore, once more entrusted to the care of the African Company
which, however, made no attempt to administer it.
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In 1785 Lemain (MacCarthy) Island was acquired by the British
Government with a view to establishing a convict settlement, but
nothing came of the plan, the convicts being eventually diverted to
other places.

For the next 30 years British influence in the Gambia was con-
fined to the operations of a number of individual traders. Settlements
were established by these traders along the river banks. Perhaps the
most important of these was at Pisania (Karantaba). This settlement,
which was already in existence in 1779, was occupied by a doctor
named Laidley and a family of the name of Aynsley. Subsequently,
invaluable assistance was rendered by both Laidley and the Aynsleys
to Major Houghton (1790), Mungo Park (1795 and 1805) and Major
Grey (1818) in the course of their journeys of exploration into the
interior of Africa.

In 1794, on the representations of the African Association, James
Willis was appointed Consul General for Senegambia and was
ordered to proceed to Fattatenda to promote British trade and
influence in the upper regions of the Gambia and the Niger. For
various reasons this expedition never saiied and it was left to Mungo
Park, under the auspices of the African Association, to make his
way from Karantaba to the upper reaches of the Niger.

In 1807 the African slave trade was abolished by Act of Parliament.
At that date the British were in possession of Goree. With the co-
operation of the Royal Navy, the garrison of that fort made stren-
uous efforts to suppress the traffic in the River Gambia which was
being carried on by American and Spanish vessels. On more than
one occasion the slavers offered a stubborn resistance and the Royal
African Corps suffered severe casualties.

At the close of the Napoleonic Wars it was agreed, as part of the
terms of the treaty of peace, that Goree should be returned to France.
On the recommendation of Sir Charles MacCarthy and in order to
suppress the traffic in slaves, the British Government issued instruc-
tions that James Island or some other suitable place in the river
should be occupied as a military post. Captain Alexander Grant of
the African Corps was accordingly despatched with some troops for
the purpose. James Island was reoccupied but owing to the ruinous
state of the fort it was found to be unsuitable as a military base.
On the 23rd April 1816, Grant entered into a treaty with the King
of Kombo for the cession of the island of Banjol to the British
Government. The island was renamed St. Mary’s Island, and the
settlement, which was established there, was called Bathurst after
the then Secretary of State for the Colonies.
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In 1821 the African Company was dissolved by Act of Parliament
and the Gambia was placed under the jurisdiction of the Govern-
- ment of Sierra Leone. The Gambia was administered from Sierra
Leone until 1843, when it was created a separate Colony. This
arrangement continued until 1866, when the Gambia and Sierra
Leone were once more united under the same administration.

In the meantime the British Government extended its territorial
acquisitions beyond St. Mary’s Island by concluding treaties with a
number of native chiefs. In 1826 the north bank of the river mouth
was ceded to Great Britain by the King of Barra. In 1823 Major
Grant acquired Lemain Island, which was renamed MacCarthy
Island and was made into a settlement for liberated African slaves
as well as the headquarters of a Wesleyan mission. In 1840 and 1853
considerable areas of the mainland adjoining St. Mary’s Island were
obtained from the King of Kombo for the settlement of discharged
soldiers of the West India Regiments and liberated Africans. Cessions
of other tracts of land further upstream were obtained at various
dates. In 1857 Albreda, which, as a foreign enclave in the middle of
British territory, had proved a constant source of friction between
British and French Governments, was handed over to Great Britain.
who, in exchange, renounced her rights to the gum trade at Portendic.

In 1870 and 1876 negotiations were entered into between the
French and British Governments for the exchange of the Gambia
for other territory in West Africa, but the proposal aroused such
opposition in Parliament and amongst various mercantile bodies in
England and the native inhabitants of the Gambia that the British
Government felt unable to press the scheme.

In 1888 the Gambia once more separated from Sierra Leone and
has ever since that date been a separate colony. In the following year
an agreement was arrived at between the French and British Govern-
ments for the delimination of the boundaries of the Gambia, Senegal
and the Casamance. In the meantime, despite a number of petty wars
the Gambia Government had been able to conclude a series of
treaties with the principal chiefs living upon the banks of the river.
Some of these provided for the cession of small tracts of territory,
but the majority of the later treaties conferred British protection.
The last and most important of these was concluded in 1901 with
Musa Molloh, the paramount chief of Fuladu. In 1894 an Ordinance
was passed for the better administration of those districts which had
not been ceded to, but merely placed under the protection of the
British Government. It was also found that in practice it was not
feasible to administer as part of the Colony isolated tracts of land
lying at a considerable distance from the seat of government. Con-
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sequently, in 1895, and the following years, Ordinances were passed
bringing a number of these strips of territory under the protectorate
system of administration. Finally, by a Protectorate Ordinance
passed in 1902, the whole of the Gambia, with the exception of the
island of St. Mary, was brought under the protectorate system.

It is not proposed here to attempt to summarise the more recent
history of the Gambia, which may be found in the Annual Reports
published during the past 40 years, but during that time the pace
of development in the Colony has outstripped that of the Protec-
torate, and has accentuated the cleavage between the two areas
considerably.

The population of the Protectorate, except for the annual ingress
and egress of the “strange farmers” from the neighbouring French
and Portuguese territories of the Senegal and the Casamance, mainly
comprises the indigenous peasant tribes who still cling tenaciously
to the native law and custom handed down to them from their
ancestors. Bathurst, on the other hand, carries a population of a
somewhat cosmopolitan character, consisting of an admixture of
persons of very different races and creeds, who have imported with
them certain characteristics peculiar to their several places of origin.
The social structure of the capital thus has its foundatmn in a mixture
of the endemic and the exotic.

By a constitutional measure of 1947 an unofficial majority was
introduced to the Legislative Council, including one elected member
to represent Bathurst and Kombo St. Mary. Four years later a
further step was taken and the Council which met for its inaugural
session in November 1951, included eight unofficial members of
whom two were elected to represent Bathurst and one Kombo St.
Mary, while four were appointed to represent the four divisions of
the Protectorate and one commercial interests. The office of Vice-
President was also created at the time and filled by a Gambian who
normally presided at meetings of the Council. All the elected mem-
bers were appointed to the Executive Council and two became
Members of the Government without Portfolio.

In 1953, the country being ready for further advances, a Consul-
tative Committee under the presidency of the Governor, made
proposals which were embodied in a constitution which came into
force towards the end of 1954. The Order-in-Council provided for
the election of 14 unofficial members to the Legislative Council, the
nomination of two others and the election of a Speaker, the
Governor remaining President. There were four ex officio members
and one nominated Gambian member of the Public Service. There
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to be not less than two or more than three Ministers, and there
was an unofficial majority in Executive Council for the first time.

} During 1955 the Government purchased a substantial building of
modern design in Bathurst for conversion to a Legislative Chamber
'with accommodation for approximately 150 visitors. The Chamber

?‘was completed and opened at a session of the Council in December
1955.
[ 1

The then Secretary of State, Mr. Alan Lennox-Boyd, came to
'Gambia in June 1959 and held talks with political leaders and
'representatives of the Protectorate, which crystallised in the 1960
‘constitution, described in the next chapter.

- In March 1961 the Governor appointed a Chief Minister charged
'with the duty of co-ordinating the activities of the several Ministers.

A constitutional conference was opened by Lord Perth in May
1961 and continued in London in July. Its report envisaged a general
‘election not later than May 1962 followed by the introduction of
 self-government with full ministerial responsibility under a Premier,

:'pertain subjects being reserved for the Governor.

O

Chapter 3: Administration

' THE constitutional advance which came in April 1960 provided for
‘an enlarged legislature, re-named “House of Representatives™, and
'an Executive Council consisting of four official and six appointed
'members, all of whom must be elected or nominated unofficial
' members of the House. The Governor continued to be President of
' both bodies. Universal adult suffrage, which had been enjoyed in
' the Colony for several years, was for the first time extended to the
' Protectorate, which was allotted 12 seats, the Colony having seven.
' Eight seats were allotted to Head Chiefs who were elected by an
electoral college composed of all the chiefs. Literacy in English
' became a qualification for election. Of the six Ministers appointed
| after the general election of May 1960, four held portfolios con-
ferring responsibility for the activities of Government Departments.

The local government authority in the Island of St. Mary is the
' Bathurst Town Council, which consists of the Commissioner of the -
' Colony as an ex officio member, four nominated members and three
“elected members from each of the five wards. Its main activities
 consist, at present, of lighting streets, maintaining markets and
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drains, taking care of open spaces and maintaining all cleansing
services within the town. The Council draws revenue from rates,
levied on private, commercial and Government premises which are
all subject to annual valuation, market dues, sundry grants from |
Government and duties on palm wine entering the town. '

The Kombo Rural Authority concerns itself with the maintenance |
of village streets and markets and some forms of agricultural develop- |
ment. Revenue is derived from rates, fees from trade licences and the |
hire of market stalls.

The Protectorate is administered in four Divisions, Western, |
Lower River, MacCarthy Island and Upper River. Each Dmsmn]
is in the charge of a Commissioner with headquarters at Brikama,
Mansa Konko, Georgetown and Basse respectively. There is an}
Assistant Commissioner in Lower River Division stationed at
Kerewan on the North Bank. !

Each Division consists of a number of districts. There are 35 such |
districts of sizes ranging from 8 to 305 square miles and with popula-
tions varying between 1,000 and 30,000. Each district is ruled by a |
District Authority appointed by the Governor, and consisting of the |
Chief as President and a Council of village heads and traditional
advisers. The District Authorities are expected to maintain ordl;':r
and good government in their areas and have powers to make rules | J
and orders for a variety of matters. |

In 1961 a start was made on a new policy of establishing Area
Councils containing a majority of elected members. These are taking |
over from the District Authorities all their powers relating to develop- |
ment and the provision of services, leaving the chiefs and their |
advisers in each district responsible for law and order and the‘
administration of justice. Two of these Area Councils were estab-
lished in 1961, in Brikama and Basse, and eventually six such
councils will cover the whole protectorate. :

The administration of justice at the lowest level in the Protectorate |
continues to be carried out by District Tribunals appointed by the
Governor. There is one tribunal in each of the 35 districts with the
Chief as president and, usually about six elders as members. Group
Tribunals are established in each Division (two in MacCarthy Island
Division), with a membership drawn from the District Tribunals of
the area. These Group Tribunals have greater powers than a District
Tribunal and can deal with disputes which by their nature are not
suited for adjudication within a single district. All appeals from both
District and Group Tribunals are dealt with by the High Court.



















































